
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 

 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,  

     Plaintiff, 

            v. 

LEGION MEDIA, LLC, a limited liability 
company; 

KP COMMERCE, LLC, also doing 
business as BOTANICAL FARMS, BUY 
BLISS BRANDS, BUY SUPREME CBD, 
BUY TRIPLEX BOOST, OPTIMAL MAX, 
TRULY BOOST KETO, TRULY KETO, 
TRULY MAX BRANDS, TRULY TOTAL 
HEALTH, TRULY TOTAL KETO, and 
TRULY MAX BRANDS, a limited liability 
company; 

PINNACLE PAYMENTS, LLC, also doing 
business as CHALLENGE BODY MIND 
and FITNESS PRO, a limited liability 
company; 

SLOAN HEALTH PRODUCTS, LLC, a 
limited liability company;  

HARSHIL TOPIWALA, individually and 
as an owner and officer of LEGION 
MEDIA, LLC, KP COMMERCE, LLC and 
PINNACLE PAYMENTS, LLC; 

KIRTAN PATEL, also known as KITS 
PATEL, individually and as an owner and 
officer of KP COMMERCE, LLC and 
PINNACLE PAYMENTS, LLC; 

Case No. 8:24-cv-1459-JLB-AAS 

STIPULATED ORDER FOR 
PERMANENT INJUNCTION, 
MONETARY JUDGMENT, 
AND OTHER RELIEF AS TO 
MANINDRA GARG AND 
SLOAN HEALTH PRODUCTS, 
LLC 
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MANINDRA GARG, individually and as a 
principal and owner of SLOAN HEALTH 
PRODUCTS, LLC, 
 
    Defendants. 
 

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”), filed its 

Complaint for Permanent Injunction, Monetary Judgments, and Other Relief 

(“Complaint”), for a permanent injunction, monetary relief, and other relief in 

this matter, pursuant to Sections 13(b) and 19 of the Federal Trade 

Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b) & 57b.  The Commission and 

Defendants Manindra Garg and Sloan Health Products, LLC (collectively, the 

“Garg Defendants”) stipulate to the entry of this Stipulated Order for 

Permanent Injunction, Monetary Relief, and Other Relief as to Manindra 

Garg and Sloan Health Products, LLC (“Order”) to resolve all matters in 

dispute in this action between them. 

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED as follows: 

FINDINGS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter. 

2. The Complaint charges that Defendants participated in deceptive 

and unfair acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and (n), Section 4 of ROSCA, 15 U.S.C. § 8403(2), Section 

907(a) of the EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and Section 1005.10(b) of 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b) in connection with online unauthorized 
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billing. 

3. The Garg Defendants neither admit nor deny any of the 

allegations in the Complaint, except as specifically stated in this Order.  Only 

for purposes of this action, the Garg Defendants admit the facts necessary to 

establish jurisdiction.   

4. The Garg Defendants waive any claim that they may have under 

the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution 

of this action through the date of this Order, and agree to bear their own 

costs and attorney fees. 

5. The Garg Defendants waive and release any claims that they 

may have against the Commission, the Receiver, and their agents that relate 

to this action. 

6. The Garg Defendants and the Commission waive all rights to 

appeal or otherwise challenge or contest the validity of this Order. 

DEFINITIONS 

For the purpose of this Order, the following definitions apply: 

A. “Acquirer” means a business organization, financial institution, 

or an agent of a business organization or financial institution that has 

authority from an organization that operates or licenses a credit card system 

(e.g., Visa, MasterCard, American Express, and Discover) to authorize 

Merchants to accept, transmit, or process payment by credit card through the 
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credit card system for money, Products, or anything else of value. 

B. “Billing Information” means any data that enables any person 

to access a customer’s account, such as a credit card, checking, savings, share, 

or similar account, utility bill, mortgage loan account, or debit card. 

C. “Chargeback” means a procedure whereby an issuing bank or 

other financial institution charges all or part of an amount of a credit or debit 

transaction back to the acquiring or merchant bank. 

D. “Clear and Conspicuous” means that a required disclosure is 

easily noticeable (i.e., difficult to miss) and easily understandable by ordinary 

consumers, including in all of the following ways: 

1. In any communication that is solely visual or solely 

audible, the disclosure must be made through the same means through 

which the communication is presented.  In any communication made 

through both visual and audible means, such as a television 

advertisement, the disclosure must be presented simultaneously in 

both the visual and audible portions of the communication even if the 

representation requiring the disclosure is made in only one means. 

2. A visual disclosure, by its size, contrast, location, the length 

of time it appears, and other characteristics, must stand out from any 

accompanying text or other visual elements so that it is easily noticed, 

read, and understood. 
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3. An audible disclosure, including by telephone or streaming 

video, must be delivered in a volume, speed, and cadence sufficient for 

ordinary consumers to easily hear and understand it. 

4. In any communication using an interactive electronic 

medium, such as the Internet or software, the disclosure must be 

unavoidable. 

5. On a Product label, the disclosure must be presented on the 

principal display panel. 

6. The disclosure must use diction and syntax understandable 

to ordinary consumers and must appear in each language in which the 

representation that requires the disclosure appears. 

7. The disclosure must comply with these requirements in 

each medium through which it is received, including all electronic 

devices and face-to-face communications. 

8. The disclosure must not be contradicted or mitigated by, or 

inconsistent with, anything else in the communication. 

9. When the representation or sales practice targets a specific 

audience, such as children, the elderly, or the terminally ill, “ordinary 

consumers” includes members of that group. 

E. “Covered Product” means any Covered Skin Care Product, any 

Covered Weight Loss Product, any cannabidiol-related Product (more 
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commonly known as CBD), and any other food, drug, dietary supplement, or 

cosmetic. 

F. “Covered Skin Care Product” means any Product promoted for 

removal of skin tags, wrinkles, moles, warts, or other skin blemishes or 

lesions. 

G. “Covered Weight Loss Product” means any Product promoted 

for weight loss, fat loss, or reduction in body measurements. 

H. “Credit Card Laundering” means: 

1. Presenting or depositing into, or causing or allowing 

another to present or deposit into, the credit card system for payment, 

a Credit Card Sales Draft generated by a transaction that is not the 

result of a credit card transaction between the cardholder and the 

Merchant; 

2. Employing, soliciting, or otherwise causing or allowing a 

Merchant, or an employee, representative, or agent of a Merchant, to 

present to or deposit into the credit card system for payment, a Credit 

Card Sales Draft generated by a transaction that is not the result of a 

credit card transaction between the cardholder and the Merchant; or 

3. Obtaining access to the credit card system through the use 

of a business relationship or an affiliation with a Merchant, when such 
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access is not authorized by the Merchant Account agreement or the 

applicable credit card system. 

I. “Credit Card Sales Draft” means any record or evidence of a 

credit card transaction. 

J. “Defendants” means Harshil Topiwala, Kirtan Patel, Manindra 

Garg, Legion Media, LLC, KP Commerce, LLC, Pinnacle Payments, LLC, and 

Sloan Health Products, LLC, individually, collectively, or in any combination. 

1. “Corporate Defendants” means Legion Media, LLC, KP 

Commerce, LLC, Pinnacle Payments, LLC, and Sloan Health Products, 

LLC, and their successors and assigns. 

2. “Individual Defendants” means Harshil Topiwala, 

Kirtan Patel, and Manindra Garg. 

3. “Garg Defendants” means Manindra Garg and Sloan 

Health Products, LLC. 

K. “Forced Upsell” means the automatic bundling of any 

additional Product with the purchase of a Primary Product, including an 

Upsell that uses a pre-checked checkbox or a bundled additional Product 

from which consumers cannot opt out. 

L. “Merchant” means any natural person, entity, corporation, 

partnership, or association of persons who is authorized under a written 
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contract with an Acquirer to honor or accept credit cards, or to transmit or 

process for payment credit card payments, for the purchase of any Product. 

M. “Merchant Account” means an account with an Acquirer that 

authorizes and allows a Merchant to honor or accept credit cards, or to 

transmit or process for payment credit card payments, for the purchase of 

Products or a charitable contribution. 

N. “Negative Option Feature” means, in an offer or agreement to 

sell or provide any Product, a provision under which the consumer’s silence or 

failure to take affirmative action to reject a Product, or to cancel the 

agreement, is interpreted by the seller or provider as acceptance or 

continuing acceptance of the offer. 

O. “Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers” means an 

electronic fund transfer authorized in advance to recur at substantially 

regular intervals. 

P. “Primary Product” means the chief or principal Product that is 

the subject of the marketing materials or sales offers. 

Q. “Product” means products, goods, or services, and includes 

online memberships. 

R. “Receiver” means Mark J. Bernet, Esq. of Akerman LLP. 
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S. “Receivership Estate” means all assets managed, held, or 

maintained by the Receiver in connection with his role as Receiver in this 

litigation. 

T. “Upsell” shall mean any Product that is offered to the consumer 

at the time the consumer purchases the Primary Product. 

ORDER 

I. BAN ON NEGATIVE OPTIONS 

IT IS ORDERED that the Garg Defendants are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for 

sale, or selling any Product with a Negative Option Feature, whether directly 

or through an intermediary.  

II. BAN ON FORCED UPSELLS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or selling any Product as a Forced Upsell, 

whether directly or through an intermediary.  

III. PROHIBITED BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants, their officers, 

agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, 
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marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale of any Product, are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from: 

A. Before a consumer consents to pay for such Product, failing to 

disclose, or assisting others in failing to disclose in a Clear and Conspicuous 

manner all material terms and conditions of any offer, including: 

 1. The total cost or price of the Product(s) as well as the 

individual cost or price of each Product if more than one Product is being 

ordered; 

 2. The total number of Products the consumer is ordering; 

3. The amount, timing, and manner of all fees, charges, or 

other amounts that a consumer will be charged or billed, including the 

date of the charge and whether it will be a credit card, debit card, or 

checking account charge; and 

4. The mechanism for consumers to stop a charge. 

 B. Before a consumer consents to pay for such Product, failing to 

disclose, or assisting others in failing to disclose in a Clear and Conspicuous 

manner all material terms and conditions of any refund or cancellation 

policy, including: 

1. The specific steps and means by which such requests must 

be submitted; 
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2. The customer service telephone number or numbers that a 

customer must call to cancel and/or return Products; 

3. The email address, web address, or street address to which 

such requests must be directed; 

4. Any mechanism that customers must use to return any 

Products, including any requirement for specific tracking methods or 

delivery confirmation for a package; 

5. If there is any policy of not making refunds or 

cancellations, including any requirement that a Product will not be 

accepted for return or refund unless it is unopened and in re-sellable 

condition, a statement regarding this policy;  

6.  Any shipping or restocking fees associated with a refund; and 

7. The date by which a customer is required to request a 

refund. 

C. Misrepresenting, or assisting others in misrepresenting, 

expressly or by implication, any fact material to consumers concerning any 

Product, such as: 

1. That the consumer will not be charged for any Product; 

2. That a Product is free, risk free, a bonus, a gift, a trial offer, 

without cost, or without obligation; 
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3. That the consumer can obtain a Product for a processing, 

service, shipping, handling, or administrative fee with no further 

obligation; 

4. The purpose(s) for which the consumer’s Billing 

Information will be used; 

5. The amount that a consumer’s credit or debit card will be 

charged and the timing of the charge(s); 

6. The total cost to purchase, receive, or use a Product; 

7. Any material restrictions, limitations or conditions to 

purchase, receive, or use the Product; 

8. That a transaction has been authorized by a consumer; 

9. That a purchase is offered with a satisfaction guarantee or 

with a money-back guarantee; 

10. Any material aspect of the nature or terms of a refund, 

cancellation, exchange, or repurchase policy for the Product; 

11. Any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or 

central characteristics of a Product; 

12. That the Product is being offered by a well-known business 

or by a business that is affiliated with a well-known business; 
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13. That any advertisement for a Product is an objective source 

of information, such as an unaffiliated news report or magazine article; 

or 

14. That an endorsement is by a bona fide user of the Product 

and reflects the honest opinions, findings, beliefs, or experience of the 

endorser.  

IV. PROHIBITION AGAINST DECEPTIVE 
CLAIMS, INCLUDING FALSE AND/OR 

UNSUBSTANTIATED CLAIMS 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants, their officers, 

agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale of any Covered Product, are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from making any representation, 

expressly or by implication, about the health benefits, performance, efficacy, 

safety, or side effects of any Covered Product, unless the representation is 

non-misleading, including that, at the time such representation is made, the 

Garg Defendants possess and rely upon competent and reliable scientific 

evidence that is sufficient in quality and quantity based on standards 

generally accepted in the relevant scientific fields, when considered in light of 
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the entire body of relevant and reliable scientific evidence, to substantiate 

that the representation is true. 

V. PROHIBITION AGAINST VIOLATION OF 
THE ELECTRONIC FUND TRANSFER ACT 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants, their officers, 

agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the sale of any 

Product are hereby permanently restrained and enjoined from: 

A. Engaging in any recurring debiting of a consumer’s account 

without first obtaining a valid written pre-authorization for a Preauthorized 

Electronic Fund Transfer from the consumer’s account, which pre-

authorization is clear and readily understandable, identifiable as a pre-

authorization, and reflects the consumer’s assent, as required by Section 

907(a) of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and Section 

1005.10(b) of Regulation E, as more fully set out in Section 1005.10(b) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’s Official Staff Commentary to 

Regulation E (“Official Staff Commentary to Regulation E”), 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1005.10(b), cmts. 5 and 6, Supp. I; 

B. Engaging in any recurring debiting of a consumer’s account 

without first providing a copy of a valid written pre-authorization to the 
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consumer for a Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfer from the consumer’s 

account, which copy is clear and readily understandable, identifiable as a pre-

authorization, and reflects the consumer’s assent, as required by Section 

907(a) of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and Section 1005.10(b) of Regulation E, 

as more fully set out in Section 1005.10(b) of the Official Staff Commentary to 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b), cmts. 5 and 6, Supp. I; and 

C. Violating any provision of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693-1693r, and 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. Part 1005, a copy of which is attached as Attachment 

A. 

VI.  PROHIBITIONS RELATED TO MERCHANT ACCOUNTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants, their officers, 

agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and 

enjoined from: 

A. Failing to disclose to any bank, payment processor, credit card 

processor, independent sales organization, third party processor, payment 

gateway, or other financial institution, upon request, any material fact 

relating to obtaining a Merchant Account, including, but not limited to, the 

identity of the owner, manager, director, or officer of an entity applying for or 

Case 8:24-cv-01459-JLB-AAS   Document 98   Filed 09/16/24   Page 15 of 72 PageID 2156



 

15 of 37 
 

holding a Merchant Account, and whether such owner, manager, director, or 

officer: 

 1. Has been or is placed in a Merchant Account monitoring 

program; 

 2. Has had a Merchant Account terminated by a bank, 

payment processor, or other financial institution; or 

 3. Has been fined or otherwise disciplined by a bank, payment 

processor, or other financial institution, in connection with a Merchant 

Account. 

B. Making, or assisting others in making, directly or by implication, 

any false or misleading statements or material omissions in order to obtain a 

Merchant Account or respond to a Chargeback. 

C. Engaging in tactics to avoid any fraud or risk monitoring program 

established by any financial institution, acquiring bank, or the operators of 

any payment system, including: 

 1. Using shell companies or nominees (including nominee 

owners, officers, or managers) to obtain Merchant Accounts; 

 2. Balancing or distributing sales transaction volume or sales 

transaction activity among multiple Merchant Accounts or merchant 

billing descriptors; or 

 3. Splitting a single transaction into multiple smaller 
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transactions. 

D. Causing a sham sales transaction, including microtransactions 

(sometimes referred to as Value Added Propositions or VAP) or sales 

transactions by a Merchant to itself. 

VII.  PROHIBITION ON CREDIT CARD LAUNDERING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants, their officers, 

agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with a Merchant Account 

are permanently restrained and enjoined from Credit Card Laundering. 

VIII. INJUNCTION CONCERNING DATA-PASS 
AND RELATED PRACTICES 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants, their officers, 

agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the sale of any 

Product are hereby permanently restrained and enjoined: 

A. From passing, directly or indirectly, Billing Information used to 

charge a consumer to a subsequent seller for use in the Internet-based sale of 

any Product; 

B. From charging any consumer in the Internet-based sale of any 
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Product using Billing Information released or otherwise obtained, directly or 

indirectly, from another seller; or 

C. From violating the Restore Online Shoppers Confidence Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 8401-8405, a copy of which is attached as Attachment B. 

IX.  MONETARY JUDGMENT AND PARTIAL 
SUSPENSION 

 
IT IS FUTHER ORDERED that:  

A. Judgment in the amount of Thirty Million Dollars ($30,000,000) 

is entered in favor of the Commission against the Garg Defendants, jointly 

and severally, as monetary relief. 

B. In partial satisfaction of the monetary judgment set forth above, 

the Garg Defendants are ordered to pay to the Commission Three Million, 

One Hundred Eighty-Four Thousand Dollars ($3,184,000), which, as the Garg 

Defendants stipulate, the undersigned counsel holds in escrow for no purpose 

other than payment to the Commission.  Such payment must be made within 

seven (7) days after the entry of this Order by electronic fund transfer in 

accordance with instructions previously provided by a representative of the 

Commission.  Upon such payment and all other asset transfers specified in 

Subsections IX.C. through IX.I., the remainder of the judgment is suspended, 

subject to the Subsections below. 

C. In further satisfaction of the monetary judgment set forth above, 
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within seven (7) days after the entry of this Order, Charles Schwab & Co., 

Inc. shall transfer One Million Eight Hundred Sixty-eight Thousand Eight 

Hundred Eighteen Dollars and Eighty-two Cents ($1,868,818.82) from the 

Charles Schwab One Account ending in account number 9621 in the name of 

MKG Family Office, LP to the Commission by electronic fund transfer in 

accordance with instructions previously provided by a representative of the 

Commission.  The Garg Defendants relinquish all legal and equitable right, 

title, control, and interest in these assets. 

D. In further satisfaction of the monetary judgment set forth above, 

within seven (7) days after the entry of this Order, the following transfers of 

assets shall be made to the Receiver by electronic fund transfer, to the extent 

not already transferred to the Receiver, and such assets shall be included 

within the Receivership Estate.  The Garg Defendants relinquish all legal 

and equitable right, title, control, and interest in these assets and shall take 

all steps necessary to transfer possession, custody, and control of the 

following assets to the Receiver: 

 1. The Bank of Tampa shall transfer to the Receiver:  (a) all 

assets held in the accounts ending in account numbers 3316 and 9817 

in the name of Face & Body, LLC; (b) all assets held in the accounts 

ending in account numbers 1199 and 1325 in the name of F & B 

Cosmetics, LLC; (c) all assets held in the accounts ending in account 
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numbers 1951 and 5440 in the name of Sloan Health Products, LLC; 

and (d) all assets held in account ending in account number 1960 in the 

name of National Health Alliance LLC; and 

2. PNC Bank shall transfer to the Receiver:  (a) all assets held in 

the accounts ending in account numbers 4207 and 4215 in the name of 

Sloan Health Products, LLC; (b) all assets held in the account ending in 

account number 4223 in the name of Face & Body, LLC; and (c) all 

assets held in the account ending in account number 8102 in the name 

of F & B Cosmetics, LLC.  

E. In further satisfaction of the monetary judgment set forth above, 

within seven (7) days after the entry of this Order, the Garg Defendants are 

ordered to transfer to the Receiver for sale, if not already transferred at the 

time this Order is entered, the following vehicles: 

1. the 2020 Lamborghini Urus with Vehicle Identification 

Number ZPBUA1ZL8LLA09090. 

2. the 2022 Rolls Royce Ghost with Vehicle Identification 

Number SCATV0C05NU212507. 

3. the 2024 Rolls Royce Spectre with Vehicle Identification 

Number SCATK2CQ4RU223735. 

F. The Receiver shall make all good faith efforts to sell the vehicles 

mentioned in Subsection IX.E. as soon as possible, to the extent not already 
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sold.  The Receiver shall ensure that such assets are appraised and either 

listed for sale at or above the appraised fair market value or listed for auction 

at or above eighty-five percent of the appraised fair market value, and the 

proposed sale or auction price shall be subject to the approval of Plaintiff’s 

counsel, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  If the proposed 

sale price is less than 67 percent of the appraised value, the proposed sale 

price shall be subject to Court approval.  Individual Defendant Manindra 

Garg shall assist the Receiver in the Receiver’s sale efforts, as the Receiver 

may reasonably request.  The Receiver shall, within ten (10) days from the 

sale of such assets, transfer all proceeds to the Commission by electronic fund 

transfer in accordance with instructions provided by a representative of the 

Commission. 

G. In further satisfaction of the monetary judgment set forth above, 

within seven (7) days after entry of this Order, the Garg Defendants must 

transfer to the Receiver, to the extent not already transferred to the Receiver, 

all of the following assets: 

1. A Richard Mille RM011 Rose Gold and Titanium 44.50MM 

with Diamond Bezel, time, date and chronograph indications, 68 

Jewels, Skeletonized dial, and Rubber Strap watch, including its 

box and all papers describing its specifications and 

demonstrating its authenticity; 
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2. A Richard Mille RM07-01 Black and Gold NTPT and Rose 

Gold Sides Black Sapphire and Onyx Dial watch, including its 

box and all papers describing its specifications and 

demonstrating its authenticity; 

3. A Richard Mille RM055 TI-ATZ Bubba Watson Manual 

Wind Serial 1049 watch including its box and all papers 

describing its specifications and demonstrating its authenticity; 

4. A Richard Mille 67-02 Sebastian Ogier Automatic TPT 

Quartz watch, including its box and all papers describing its 

specifications and demonstrating its authenticity; 

5. A Rolex Pearlmaster 34 Yellow Gold MOP Roman Dial 

watch, including its box and all papers describing its 

specifications and demonstrating its authenticity; 

6. A Rolex Submariner watch (purchase price: $16,290), 

including its box and all papers describing its specifications and 

demonstrating its authenticity; 

7. A Rolex Yacht Master 2 watch (purchase price: $85,065), 

including its box and all papers describing its specifications and 

demonstrating its authenticity; 

8. A Breitling Diamond watch (purchase price: $14,660), 

including its box and all papers describing its specifications and 
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demonstrating its authenticity; 

9. An Ernst Benz 3.5K Diamond watch (purchase price: 

$32,579), including its box and all papers describing its 

specifications and demonstrating its authenticity; 

10. A Frank Mueller watch (purchase price: $19,548), including 

its box and all papers describing its specifications and 

demonstrating its authenticity; 

11. A Patek Philippe Nautilus 40mm, ss, auto, 55hrs of power 

reserve, black dial, on brac., #5998381/6119739 watch, including 

its box and all papers describing its specifications and 

demonstrating its authenticity; and 

12. A custom-made diamond chain and pendant (18K WG 38ct 

reversible dog tag with 4 GIA 50 ptr emerald cut 14 36 ct in 10 

ptrs. 3.64ct in rounds 5.96ct in color treated 9.31 ct in 25 ptrs; 

purchase price $38,000), including any box and all papers 

describing its specifications and demonstrating its authenticity. 

H. The Receiver shall make all good faith efforts to sell the assets 

mentioned in Subsection IX.G. as soon as possible, to the extent not already 

sold.  The Receiver shall ensure that such assets are appraised and either 

listed for sale at or above the appraised fair market value or listed for auction 

at or above eighty-five percent of the appraised fair market value, and the 
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proposed sale or auction price shall be subject to the approval of Plaintiff’s 

counsel, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  If the proposed 

sale price is less than 67 percent of the appraised value, the proposed sale 

price shall be subject to Court approval.  Individual Defendant Manindra 

Garg shall assist the Receiver in the Receiver’s sale efforts, as the Receiver 

may reasonably request.  The Receiver shall, within ten (10) days from the 

sale of such assets, transfer all proceeds to the Commission by electronic fund 

transfer in accordance with instructions provided by a representative of the 

Commission. 

I. In further satisfaction of the monetary judgment set forth above, 

Individual Defendant Manindra Garg relinquishes all legal and equitable 

right, title, control, and interest in all funds from the certificate of deposit 

held in the PNC bank account ending in x2319, and transfers and/or assigns 

possession, custody, and control of such funds (including any accrued 

interest) to the Commission.  Such transfer and/or assignment must be made 

within seven (7) days after the entry of this Order in accordance with 

instructions provided by a representative of the Commission.   

J. The Commission’s agreement to the suspension of part of the 

judgment is expressly premised upon the truthfulness, accuracy, and 

completeness of the Garg Defendants’ sworn financial statements and related 

documents (collectively, “Financial Attestations”) submitted to the 
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Commission, namely:   

1. The Financial Statement of Individual Defendant 

Manindra Garg signed on August 2, 2024, including the attachments 

and the supporting documents transmitted to Commission counsel via 

Kiteworks on August 8, 2024; 

2. The additional information submitted via emails from the 

Garg Defendants’ counsel Christina Barteaux to Commission counsel 

Vikram Jagadish dated August 9, August 12, August 14, and August 

15, 2024 regarding Individual Defendant Manindra Garg’s assets. 

K. The suspension of the judgment will be lifted as to any of the 

Garg Defendants if, upon motion by the Commission, the Court finds that the 

Garg Defendants failed to disclose any material asset, materially misstated 

the value of any asset, or made any other material misstatement or omission 

in the Financial Attestations identified above. 

L. If the suspension of the judgment is lifted, the judgment becomes 

immediately due as to that Defendant in the amount specified in Subsection 

IX.A. above (which the parties stipulate only for purposes of this Section 

represents the consumer injury alleged in the Complaint), less any payment 

previously made pursuant to this Section, plus interest computed from the 

date of entry of this Order. 
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X.  ADDITIONAL MONETARY PROVISIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

A. The Garg Defendants relinquish dominion and all legal and 

equitable right, title, and interest in all assets transferred pursuant to this 

Order and may not seek the return of any assets. 

B. The Garg Defendants relinquish dominion and all legal and 

equitable right, title, and interest in all assets in the Receivership Estate and 

may not seek the return of any assets. 

C. The facts alleged in the Complaint will be taken as true, without 

further proof, in any subsequent civil litigation by or on behalf of the 

Commission, including in a proceeding to enforce its rights to any payment or 

monetary judgment pursuant to this Order, such as a nondischargeability 

complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

D. The facts alleged in the Complaint establish all elements 

necessary to sustain an action by the Commission pursuant to Section 

523(a)(2)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A), and this Order 

will have collateral estoppel effect for such purposes. 

E. Each of the Garg Defendants acknowledges that Defendant’s 

Employer Identification Number, Social Security Number, or other Taxpayer 

Identification Number (“TIN”), including all TINs that the Garg Defendants 

previously provided, may be used by the Commission for reporting and other 
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lawful purposes, including collecting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Order in accordance with 31 U.S.C. §7701. 

F. All money received by the Commission pursuant to this Order 

may be deposited into a fund administered by the Commission or its designee 

to be used for consumer relief, such as redress and any attendant expenses 

for the administration of any redress fund.  If a representative of the 

Commission decides that direct redress to consumers is wholly or partially 

impracticable or money remains after such redress is completed, the 

Commission may apply any remaining money for such related relief 

(including consumer information remedies) as it determines to be reasonably 

related to Defendants’ practices alleged in the Complaint.  Any money not 

used for relief is to be deposited to the U.S. Treasury.  The Garg Defendants 

have no right to challenge any actions the Commission or its representatives 

may take pursuant to this Subsection. 

G. The asset freeze is modified to permit the transfers identified in 

the section titled Monetary Judgment.  Upon completion of those transfers, 

the asset freeze is dissolved as to the Garg Defendants.  The Garg Defendants 

must fully cooperate with the Commission and the Receiver as to the asset 

freeze and the receivership.  The Garg Defendants must take all steps 

reasonable or necessary to assist in the transfer of each asset as identified in 

the section titled Monetary Judgment.  If requested to execute appropriate 
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documents, such as to liquidate, transfer, or assign any frozen asset, the Garg 

Defendants must execute such documents within 3 days of a written request 

from a representative of the Commission or the Receiver. 

XI.  CUSTOMER INFORMATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants, their officers, 

agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and 

enjoined from:  

A. Failing to provide sufficient customer information to enable the 

Commission to efficiently administer consumer redress.  If a representative of 

the Commission requests in writing any information related to redress, the 

Garg Defendants must provide it, in the form prescribed by the Commission, 

within 14 days. 

B.  Disclosing, using, or benefitting from customer information, 

including the name, address, telephone number, email address, social 

security number, other identifying information, or any data that enables 

access to a customer’s account (including a credit card, bank account, or other 

financial account), that any Garg Defendant obtained prior to entry of this 

Order in connection with any activity alleged in the Complaint; and 
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C.  Failing to destroy such customer information in all forms in their 

possession, custody, or control within 30 days after receipt of written 

direction to do so from a representative of the Commission. 

Provided, however, that customer information need not be disposed of, 

and may be disclosed, to the extent requested by a government agency or 

required by law, regulation, or court order.   

XII.  COOPERATION WITH THE COMMISSION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual Defendant Manindra 

Garg must fully cooperate with representatives of the Commission in this 

case and in any investigation related to or associated with the transactions or 

the occurrences that are the subject of the Complaint.  Individual Defendant 

Manindra Garg must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, 

and testimony.  Individual Defendant Manindra Garg must appear for 

interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that a 

Commission representative may reasonably request upon 10 days written 

notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as a Commission 

representative may designate, without the service of a subpoena. 

XIII.  RECEIVERSHIP TERMINATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver must complete all 

duties related to the Garg Defendants within 120 days after entry of this 
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Order, but any party or the Receiver may request that the Court extend that 

Receiver’s term for good cause. 

XIV.  ORDER ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants obtain 

acknowledgments of receipt of this Order: 

A. Each Garg Defendant, within 7 days of entry of this Order, must 

submit to the Commission an acknowledgment of receipt of this Order sworn 

under penalty of perjury. 

B. For 10 years after entry of this Order, Individual Defendant 

Manindra Garg for any business that he, individually or collectively with any 

other Defendants, is the majority owner or controls directly or indirectly, and 

Corporate Defendant Sloan Health Products, LLC, must deliver a copy of this 

Order to:  (1) all principals, officers, directors, and LLC managers and 

members; (2) all employees having managerial responsibilities for conduct 

related to the subject matter of the Order and all agents and representatives 

who participate in conduct related to the subject matter of the Order; and 

(3) any business entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in 

the Section titled Compliance Reporting.  Delivery must occur within 7 days 

of entry of this Order for current personnel.  For all others, delivery must 

occur before they assume their responsibilities. 

C. From each individual or entity to which a Garg Defendant 
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delivered a copy of this Order, that Defendant must obtain, within 30 days, a 

signed and dated acknowledgment of receipt of this Order. 

XV.  COMPLIANCE REPORTING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants make timely 

submissions to the Commission: 

A. One year after entry of this Order, each Garg Defendant must 

submit a compliance report, sworn under penalty of perjury: 

1. Each Garg Defendant must:  (a) identify the primary 

physical, postal, and email address and telephone number, as 

designated points of contact, which representatives of the Commission 

may use to communicate with that Garg Defendant; (b) identify all of 

that Defendant’s businesses by all of their names, telephone numbers, 

and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; (c) describe the 

activities of each business, including the Products offered, the means of 

advertising, marketing, and sales, and the involvement of any other 

Defendant (which Individual Defendant Manindra Garg must describe 

if he knows or should know due to his own involvement); (d) describe in 

detail whether and how that Defendant is in compliance with each 

Section of this Order; and (e) provide a copy of each Order 

Acknowledgment obtained pursuant to this Order, unless previously 

submitted to the Commission.  
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2. Additionally, Individual Defendant Manindra Garg must:  

(a) identify all telephone numbers and all physical, postal, email and 

Internet addresses, including all residences; (b) identify all business 

activities, including any business for which he performs services 

whether as an employee or otherwise and any entity in which he has 

any ownership interest; and (c) describe in detail his involvement in 

each such business, including title, role, responsibilities, participation, 

authority, control, and any ownership. 

B. For 15 years after entry of this Order, each Garg Defendant must 

submit a compliance notice, sworn under penalty of perjury, within 14 days of 

any change in the following:  

1. Each Garg Defendant must report any change in:  (a) any 

designated point of contact; or (b) the structure of any Corporate 

Defendant or any entity that Defendant has any ownership interest in 

or controls directly or indirectly that may affect compliance obligations 

arising under this Order, including:  creation, merger, sale, or 

dissolution of the entity or any subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that 

engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order. 

2. Additionally, Individual Defendant Manindra Garg must 

report any change in:  (a) name, including aliases or fictitious name, or 

residence address; or (b) title or role in any business activity, including 

Case 8:24-cv-01459-JLB-AAS   Document 98   Filed 09/16/24   Page 32 of 72 PageID 2173



 

32 of 37 
 

any business for which he performs services whether as an employee or 

otherwise and any entity in which he has any ownership interest, and 

identify the name, physical address, and any Internet address of the 

business or entity. 

C. Each Garg Defendant must submit to the Commission notice of 

the filing of any bankruptcy petition, insolvency proceeding, or similar 

proceeding by or against such Defendant within 14 days of its filing. 

D. Any submission to the Commission required by this Order to be 

sworn under penalty of perjury must be true and accurate and comply with 

28 U.S.C. § 1746, such as by concluding:  “I declare under penalty of perjury 

under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing is true and 

correct.  Executed on:  _____” and supplying the date, signatory’s full name, 

title (if applicable), and signature. 

E. Unless otherwise directed by a Commission representative in 

writing, all submissions to the Commission pursuant to this Order must be 

emailed to DEbrief@ftc.gov or sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal 

Service) to:  Associate Director for Enforcement, Bureau of Consumer 

Protection, Federal Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, 

Washington, DC  20580.  The subject line must begin:  FTC v. Garg 

(X240034). 
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XVI.  RECORDKEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Garg Defendants must create 

certain records for 15 years after entry of the Order, and retain each such 

record for 5 years.  Specifically, Corporate Defendant Sloan Health Products, 

LLC and its successors and assigns and Individual Defendant Manindra 

Garg for any business that such Defendant, individually or collectively with 

any other Defendants, is a majority owner or controls directly or indirectly, 

must create and retain the following records: 

A. Accounting records showing the revenues from all Products sold; 

B. Personnel records showing, for each person providing services, 

whether as an employee or otherwise, that person’s:  name; addresses; 

telephone numbers; job title or position; dates of service; and (if applicable) 

the reason for termination; 

C. Records of all consumer complaints and refund requests, whether 

received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party, and any 

response; 

D. All records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Order, including all submissions to the Commission; and 

E. A copy of each unique advertisement or other marketing 

material. 
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XVII.  COMPLIANCE MONITORING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purpose of monitoring the 

Garg Defendants’ compliance with this Order, including the Financial 

Attestations upon which part of the judgment was suspended and any failure 

to transfer any assets as required by this Order: 

A. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from a 

representative of the Commission, each Garg Defendant must:  submit 

additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must be 

sworn under penalty of perjury; appear for depositions; and produce 

documents for inspection and copying.  The Commission is also authorized to 

obtain discovery, without further leave of court, using any of the procedures 

prescribed by Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 29, 30 (including depositions 

by remote means), 31, 33, 34, 36, 45, and 69. 

B. For matters concerning this Order, the Commission is authorized 

to communicate directly with each of the Garg Defendants.  The Garg 

Defendants must permit representatives of the Commission to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with any Defendant who has agreed to 

such an interview.  The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

C. The Commission may use all other lawful means, including 

posing, through its representatives as consumers, suppliers, or other 

individuals or entities, to the Garg Defendants or any individual or entity 
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affiliated with the Garg Defendants, without the necessity of identification or 

prior notice. Nothing in this Order limits the Commission's lawful use of 

compulsory process, pursuant to Sections 9 and 20 of the FTC Act, 15 U,S,C, 

§§ 49, 57b-l. 

D. Upon written request from a representative of the Commission, 

any consumer reporting agency must furnish consumer reports concerning 

Individual Defendant Manindra Garg, pursuant to Section 604(1) of the Fair 

Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §1681b(a)(l). 

XVIII. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court retains jurisdiction of 

this matter for purposes of construction, modification, and enforcement of 

this Order. 

SO ORDERED this16thday of September 
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2024 . 

.,kL d..#. p · 
JOHN L. BADALAMENTI 

UXITED STATES DISTRICT JCOOE 
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SO STIPULATED AND AGREED: 

FOR PLAINTIFF: 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

£2~£ 
Attorneys 
Darren H. Lubetzky 
Vikram J agadish 
Karen Dahlberg O'Connell 
Federal Trade Commission 
Northeast Regional Office 
One Bowling Green, Suite 318 
New York, NY 10004 
Tel: (212) 607-2829 
Email: dlubetzky@ftc.gov 
Email: vjagadish@ftc.gov 
Email: koconnell@ftc.gov 

FOR THE GARG DEFENDANTS: 

es E. Felman 
K therine Yanes 
Kynes Markman & Felman 
100 S. Ashley Drive, Suite 1450 
Tampa, FL 33602 
Phone (813)-229-1118 
Fax (813) 221-6750 
jfelman@kmf-law.com 
Counsel for Defendants Manindra Garg 
and Sloan Health Products, LLC 

Date: -~--1/✓....;..1....;_9_._/__,;::J''--"-V __ 
' 
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RA 2-\RG, INDIVIDUALLY 
AND A AN OFFICER OF SLOAN 
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���
�	��Q�	!�R!����S:PT������
�������
���
������
�
�
��������
�
����������
������PPu����Q�	!�R!���S:PT����
���
��������
����
������
����??:�������
���?��v��������
�w�����x�
������
�9��������!>rres_̂ge�tb_eQ�	!�R!����S:W��
�
���GX��VWPT������

�
�	��Q�	!�R!����S:PN��V���\����:Z��:P�P���:W�Y
�
!�::?W�������
�
�
��
yl����Gz�v{z{|}~!�9 ���
���������
�
���
�����	���
�����	�����
�������
�����
����
�
��������
����
�������
�����
�����
�������
������iNT��
���iNT�����
����
�
�����
��������������
���
��������
����
������
�����iNT����
���
�
������
�
�������
���
����
��	��
����
�
���������	�����������
�����?����
�����
���
���
�
���������
���
���
������
��O���::��:PPN�!l�	��9��{����z!�l����Gz��{z{|}~!�G��
����������������
����
�����
����
�������
����
������������;����������
����
�
��
�������
���
�������
�����������:P�P��
��������
����
�
�����
���
������������D�������
��
�����	�
������
�����N�?�	��T����
�����:��������
���9���
������H��
������	�	��������
�	��lH��
l�������������
���?�!Y!I!��iNT�S��	��T�������:������������	��\�������T���:P���������
�
�
��
������������������������
�����
�������
�������

Case 8:24-cv-01459-JLB-AAS   Document 98   Filed 09/16/24   Page 53 of 72 PageID 2194

-



��������	
���
���	������	����������������������
��������������������������� ! " ��#�$
%�������&���'( ��)������
�����������������
�
�������������������
����������*	
��������+������*	
���
��������
������	����������������
�
��������(��"���������������,����-����&���	
�������������
�
��������������������������������
�
����������������������������(������.�����	
���
��������
��
��������-�
�����������	������	�����������
���������
�� �����./01230456�5674/56869:0 ;<����
��
��������-�
�������������
���������
�������������	��+
�
������
���������������&�+
��
�=�������
�����&�������������
���������������+
�����

�&�>���
���&�����������
���+���
�
��&�����;������������������
�
�������������������
����������*	
������

����������������+������*	
���
��������
������	����������������
�
��������(��)��������������
�
������������
�
����������������

���+�����
����������������	
�����������
�
������������������
��
���������	��?��
������������
�
�&���	
��

�������
������
�������������
�
������������(������"������������������&�
����
+
������&�������+
��������������������
�
���������������������
���������
�����������������

����������������
����������������������	
���
�������
�������������@
������
��A������	�����
������
������A����'�<����������������� ! " ��#�$
%�' ��$��B65/3C�D35�C/01230456�5674/56869:0 ;<������
�����-�
��������
��	������	�����������
��������
������

�����
�������

�E�������$�&��F�$ �B�� �G ����%�H&��
�
��IJ&�KHF$&�L�����&��FF�&���$�!��� ��M�H&���
���	��+
����������
�
��IJ����B�� �G ����%�H��������������������
+������������������L�����&��FF�&�������	��
������B�� �G ����%�F�&�K�&�E�
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